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Report of the Manager to the unitholders

In 2024, the Hong Kong and China equity markets navigated a complex landscape marked by volatility, policy
shifts, and global uncertainties yet delivered a performance that exceeded expectations. The year began with
cautious optimism as markets anticipated U.S. interest rate cuts, but persistent inflation and geopolitical tensions,
including the Israel-lran situation and U.S.-China trade concerns, tempered enthusiasm. In China, weak
consumption, driven by a sluggish property sector, weighed on sentiment despite incremental policy easing. The
Hang Seng index (HS!) hit a multi-year low early in the year but staged a technical bull market by April, fueled
by hopes of stimulus following the Two Sessions and Politburo meetings. Our fund adopted a flexible strategy,
balancing high-quality growth names in sectors like travel, home appliances, and internet with defensive plays,
while actively managing portfolio beta to capitalize on market momentum.

Mid-year, the market entered a consolidation phase after a sharp rally, as macroeconomic data disappointed
and global concerns, including U.S. election rhetoric and tariff threats, grew. The Third Plenum and July Politburo
meetings signaled a focus on consumption-driven policies, but the lack of significant stimulus left investors
skeptical. Despite this, attractive valuations and disciplined cost management by market leaders, particularly in
the private sector, offered opportunities. A surprise stimulus package in late September, and a 50-basis-point
U.S. Fed rate cut, sparked a 30% rally in the Hong Kong and China markets, with daily turnover hitting a historic
high of HKD 600 billion. However, the rally faded by October as policy clarity waned, and attention shifted to the
U.S. presidential election, which confirmed a Republican sweep, raising fears of renewed tariffs,

The final quarter saw continued correction, with the weakest earnings season in over three years reflecting
ongoing economic challenges. Nevertheless, December brought a rebound driven by sector rotations into
defensive yield plays like banks and energy. Throughout 2024, we identified key themes, including cost-saving
efforts by internet giants, yield opportunities in state-owned enterprises, and the rise of strong brands like
Popmart and Xiaomi. l.ooking ahead to 2025, while valuations remain compelling, low expectations and potential
volatility from U.S.-China relations and Trump's inauguration warrant caution. We maintain a cautiously optimistic
stance, employing a barbell approach that balances defensive and growth stocks to seize opportunities amid
uncertainty.

For and on behalf of

Pickers Capital Management Limited
25 April 2025
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Report of the Trustee to the unitholders

We hereby confirm that, to the best of our knowledge the Manager of CFund — China Equity {the "Sub-
Fund™), a sub-fund of CFund, has, in all material respects, managed the Sub-Fund in accordance with the
provisions of the Trust Deed dated 6 November 2018, as amended, the First Supplemental deeds dated 6
November 2018, the Second Supplemental Deed dated 31 December 2019, the Third Supplemental Deed dated
7 May 2020 and the Fourth Supplemental Deed dated 18 March 2022, for the year ended 31 December 2024.

/Mﬂ .

rudent/él Trustee f_"mted

ril 2025
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Statement of Responsibilities of the Manager and the Trustee

Manager's Responsibilities

The Manager of the Sub-Fund is required by the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds issued by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC Code") and the Trust Deed to prepare financial statements
for each annual accounting period which give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Sub-Fund at the
end of that period and of the transactions for the period then ended. In preparing these financial statements, the
Manager is required to

- confirm the selection and application of accounting policies as appropriate;

- make judgments and estimates that are prudent and reascnable; and

- prepare the financial statements on the basis that the Sub-Fund will continue in operation unless it is
inappropriate to presume this,

The Manager is also required to manage the Sub-Fund in accordance with the Trust Deed and take reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Trustee’s Responsibilities
The Trustee of the Sub-Fund is required by the SFC Code and the Trust Deed to:

- ensure that the Sub-Fund in all material respects is managed in accordance with the Trust Deed and
that the investment and borrowing powers are complied with;

- satisfy itself that sufficient accounting and cther records have been maintained;
- safeguard the property of the Sub-Fund and rights attaching thereto; and

- report to the unitholders for each annual accounting period should the Manager not managing the Sub-
Fund in accordance with the Trust Deed.



Independent Auditor’'s Report
To the Unitholders of CFund — China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
What we have audited

The financial statements of CFund — China Equity (the "Sub-Fund™), a sub-fund of CFund, which are set out on
pages 8 to 44, comprise:

the statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024;

the statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

the statement of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders for the year then ended;

the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information.

*® & & 0 @

Our opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Sub-Fund as at
31 December 2024, and of its financial transactions and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with IFRS Accounting Standards.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs"). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.

independence

We are independent of the Sub-Fund in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards
Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”}, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the IESBA Code.

Other Information

The Trustee and the Manager (the “Management”) of the Sub-Fund are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the annual report other than the financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing s0, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.



Independent Auditor’'s Report
To the Unitholders of CFund — China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund) (Continued)

Responsibilities of the Management for the Financial Statements

The Management of the Sub-Fund is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards, and for such internal control as the Management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Management of the Sub-Fund is responsible for assessing the Sub-
Fund's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Management either intends to liquidate the Sub-Fund or
to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

In addition, the Management of the Sub-Fund is required to ensure that the financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed dated 8 November
2018, as amended (“Trust Deed”) and Appendix E of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds issued by the
Hong Kong Securities and Futures Commission (the “SFC Code™).

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our
opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 1SAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. In addition, we are required to assess
whether the financial statements of the Sub-Fund have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in
accordance with the relevant disclosure provigions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the SFC Code.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

¢ Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

+ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Sub-Fund's internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasconableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the Management.

* Conclude on the appropriateness of the Management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Sub-Fund's ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report
to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Sub-Fund to cease to continue as a going
concern.

s Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.



Independent Auditor’s Report
To the Unitholders of CFund - China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund) (Continued)

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements (Continued)
We communicate with the Management regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during
our audit.

Report on Matters under the Relevant Disclosure Provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the
SFC Code

In our opinion, the financial statements have been properly prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with
the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed and Appendix E of the SFC Code.

(et Z,.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 April 2025



CFund - China Equity
{A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 December 2024

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Derivatives
Dividends receivable
Prepayments

Other receivables
Margin deposits
Deposit with broker
Bank balances
TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES

CURRENT LIABILITIES

Derivatives

Management fee payable

Trustee fee payable

Amounts payable on redemption of units
Distributions payable to unitholders
Other payables and accruals

Notes

3(a)
3(a), 6

8(a)
8(b)
11(a)

3(a), &
11{c)
11(b}

12

LIABILITIES (EXCLUDING NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO

UNITHOLDERS)

NET ASSETS

NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS

For and on behalf of
BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited, Trustee

Trustee

For and on behalf of

As at As at

31 December 31 December
2024 2023

HK$ HK$
204,482,407 120,367,805
- 606,289

60,660 101,304
25,397 9,292

- 39

7,060,255 7,041,224

- 213,830

18,510,873 15,954,307
230,139,592 144,294,090
21,510 -
299,893 179,772
41,333 40,000
6,092,504 76,569
191,138 177,400
89,532 236,364
6,736,010 710,105
223,403,582 143,583,985
223,403,582 143,583,985

Pickers Capital Management Limited, Manager

Director

The notes on pages 12 to 44 are an integral part of these financial statements.



CFund - China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Statement of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 December 2024

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
Notes HK$ HKS
INCOME
Dividend income 6,281,385 4,002,568
Interest income on bonds - 50,674
Interest income on bank deposits 11(a) 311,474 364,303
Net realised gain/(loss) on financial assefs at fair value
through profit or loss 10,859,817 (29,050,073)
Net change in unrealised gain/{loss} on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss 26,142,330 12,267,150
Net exchange loss (572,723) (231,069}
Other income 8,339 -
TOTAL NET INCOME 43,030,632 (12,596,447}
EXPENSES
Management fee 11{c) 2,817,902 3,083,873
Trustee fee 11(b) 480,000 491,864
Custodian fee 11(f) 59,493 53,857
Auditors' remuneration 184,132 193,303
Transaction costs 723,472 2,640,777
Brokers commission expenses 11(g) 464,585 1,499,348
Transaction and handling fees 11(e) 237,882 833,816
Other general expenses 11(e), 11{f 79,093 54,688
TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 5,046,559 8,931,526
PROFIT/{LOSS) BEFORE TAX 37,984,073 (21,527,973}
Withholding taxes 10 340,453 475,909
PROFIT/(LOSS) AFTER TAX AND BEFORE 37,643,620 (22,003,882}
DISTRIBUTION
Distributions to unitholders 12 (746,756) (855,548)
INCREASE/DECREASE) IN NET ASSETS
ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS 36,896,864 (22,859,430}

The notes on pages 12 to 44 are an integral part of these financial staterments.
9



CFund - China Equity
{A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Statement of Changes in Net Assets Atiributable to Unitholders
For the year ended 31 December 2024

For the For the

year ended year ended

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

Note HK$ HK$

Net assets attributable to unitholders at the beginning of the year 143,583,985 430,477,828
Subscription of units 67,440,578 1,091,989
Redemption of units (24 517,845) (265,126,402)
Net increasef{decrease) from transactions with unitholders 42,922,733 (264,034,413)
Profit/(loss) after tax and before distribution 37,643,620 (22,003,882)
Distribution to unitholders 12 (746,756) {855,548)
Net assets attributable to unitholders at the end of the year 223,403,582 143,583,985
Class A HKD Class A HKD Class A RMB

(Accumulation) {Distribution} (Accurulation)

2024 Units Units Units
At the beginning of the year 1,867,910.6147 393,959.4036 131,034.1476
Subscriptions during the year 1,005,477.6036 0.7393 -
Redemptions during the year (325,431.2232) (27,655.5329) (615.7352)
At the end of the year 2,537,956.9951 366,304.6100 130,418.4124
Class A HKD Class A HKD Class A RMB

{Accumulation) (Distribution) (Accumulation)

2023 Units Units Units
At the beginning of the year 4,948,720.4668 509,818.0936 157,748.7793
Subscriptions during the year 14,410.8925 34.8401 83.7902
Redemptions during the year (3,103,220.74486) (115,893.5301) (26,798.4219)
At the end of the year 1,857,910.6147 393,959.4036 131,034,1476

The notés on pages 12 to 44 are an integral part of these financial statements.

10



CFund - China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(Loss) before income tax

Adjustments for:

Interest Income on bank deposits

Interest income on bonds

Dividend income

Net exchange loss

Operating profit/{loss) before working capital changes

Notes

(Increase)decrease in financial assets at fair value through profit

and loss

Decrease In derivatives

Decrease in amounts due from brokers
Decrease in margin deposits — restricted
(Increase)decrease in prepayment

Decrease in other receivables
Increase/(decrease) in management fee payable
Increasef/(decrease) in trustee fee payable
Decrease in amounts due to brokers

Decrease in accounts payable and accruals

Cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

Withholding taxes paid

Dividend income received

Interest income received on bank deposits

Interest Income received on bonds

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from subscription of units

Payments on redemption of units

Distributions paid to unitholders

Net cash generated from/{used in) financing activities

Net increasel/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year
Net exchange loss

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

Analysis of Balances of Cash and Cash Equivalents:
Cash at bank

Margin deposits - unrestricted

Deposit with broker - unrestricted

The notes on pages 12 to 44 are an integral part of these financial statements.

8(a)
8(b)

11

For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023

HK$ HKS
37,984,073 (21,527,973}
(311,474) (364,303)

- (50,674)
(6,281,395) {4,002,568)
572,723 231,069
31,863,027 {25,714,449)
(84,114,602) 224,406,208
627,799 589,517

- 16,968,903

1,207,574 5,840,774
(16,105) 4,255

39 -

120,221 (422,232}
1,333 (20,200}

- (19,055,979}

(146,832) (30,935}
(50,356,646} 202,565,860
(340,453) (475,909)
6,322,039 3,901,264
311,474 364,303

- 50,674
(44,063,586) 206,406,192
67,440,578 1,092,086
(18,501,910) (284,849,411)
{733,018) (972,772}
48,205,650 (284,730,007)
4,142,064 (78,323,905)
20,932,866 99,487,840
(572,723) {231,069)
24,502,207 20,932 866
18,510,873 15,954,307
5,991,334 4,764,729
- 213,830
24,502,207 20,932,866




CFund - China Equity
{A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

General information

CFund (the “Fund”) is a unit frust established under the laws of Hong Kong by the Trust Deed dated 6
November 2018, as amended, the First Supplemental Deed dated 6 November 2018, the Second
Supplemental Deed dated 31 December 2019, the Third Supplemental Deed date 7 May 2020 and the
Fourth Supplemental Deed dated 18 March 2022, made between Pickers Capital Management Limited
as Manager (the “Manager”) and BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as Trustee (the “Trustee”). The Fund
currently consists of two sub-funds, CFund — China Equity and CFund — Dynamic Income, of which
CFund — China Equity (the “Sub-Fund”) commenced its operations on 2 January 2019 and CFund -
Dynamic Income commenced its operation on 12 May 2022. The Sub-Fund has issued Class A HKD
{Accumulation) units on 2 January 2019, Class A HKD (Distribution) units on 16 June 2020 and Class A
RMB {Accumulation) units on 30 September 2020.

The Fund and the Sub-Fund have been authorised by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong
Kong (“SFC”) under Section 104 of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong and are required
to comply with the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds established by the SFC of Hong Kong (“the
Code").

The investment objective of the Sub-Fund is to provide long-term capital appreciation by primarily
investing in listed equities with a China focus. There can be no assurance that the Sub-Fund will achieve
its investment objective. The Sub-Fund seeks to achieve its objective primarily through exposure to
companies established in China or those which, whilst established outside China, derive a significant
proportion of their revenue or profits from business related {o China, The Sub-Fund makes investments

* into companies that, in the Manager's opinion, have been undervalued by the market. There is no

restriction on market capitalisations or industries in relation to the equity securities in which the Sub-
Fund may invest.

Under normal circumstances, the asset allocation strategy is that at least 70% of the Sub-Fund's Net
Asset Value will be invested in stocks of companies established in China or those which, whilst
established outside China, derive a significant proportion of their revenue or profits from business related
fo China (including but not limited to investment in depositary receipts such as American Depositary
Receipts), and, subject to an overall upper limit on onshore China exposure of 20% of the Sub-Fund's
Net Asset Value, up to 20% of the Sub-Fund's Net Asset Value will be invested directly or indirectly in
stocks listed in Shanghai (including stocks listed on the Sci-Tech Innovation Board of the Shanghai Stock
Exchange and/or Shenzhen (including stocks in the ChiNext market and/or stocks listed on the Small
and Medium Enterprise Board). Exposure to A-shares and B-shares may be obtained in different ways,
including indirect exposure (such as through investing in exchange-traded funds and/or other funds that
invest in the relevant China listed shares and/or derivative instruments such as swaps), and direct
exposure (in the case of A-shares, such as via the Shanghai Hong Kong Stock Connect and Shenzhen-
Hong Kong Stock Connect (together, the “Stock Connect”), and/or other relevant programmes when
such other relevant programmes become available). Investments in exchange-traded funds by the Sub-
Fund are considered and treated as listed securities for the purposes of and subject to the requirements
in Chapters 7.1, 7.1A and 7.2 of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Funds issued by the SFC.

In addition to the above mentioned principal investment of the Sub-Fund, the Sub-Fund may invest up
to 30% of its Net Asset Value in bonds, including fixed income securities that are investment grade,
below investment grade (i.e. below BBB-/Baa3 by an internationally recognised credit rating agency,
such as Standard & Poor's, Moody’s and/or Fitch) and unrated (meaning neither the security itself nor
its issuer has a credit rating) and convertible bonds. Exposure to bonds may also be obtained indirectly
through investing in ETFs that invest in bonds.

12



CFund - China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements

1.

(a)

General information (continued}

Subject to an overall upper {imit on onshore PRC exposure of 20% of the Sub-Fund's Net Asset Value,
the Sub-Fund may invest up to 20% of its Net Asset Value in onshore China debt securities via the Bend
Connect (as defined below) and may invest up to 10% of its Net Asset Value in urban investment bonds.
Urban investment bonds are debt instruments issued by local government financing vehicles ("LGFVs")
in the China listed bond and interbank bond market. These LGFVs are separate legal entities established
by local governments and/or their affiliates to raise financing for public welfare investment or
infrastructure projects.

The Sub-Fund may use derivatives for hedging and/or investment purposes provided that such
investments shall comply with the investment restrictions set out in Chapter 7 of the Code.
(notwithstanding this, derivatives will not be extensively or primarily used for investment purposes). The
derivative instruments used by the Sub-Fund for investment purposes will broadly fall under three
categories: (i} participatory notes, which do not create any leverage and are used primarily for accessing
the A-share market, B-share market and Taiwan; (ii) exchange-traded or over-the counter futures
contracts and options, which create leverage and are used primarily for gaining market exposure in a
timely and cost effective manner (e.g. during times of large subscription inflow or in the event of sharp
market movements); and (iii)) swaps that do not create leverage and used primarily for market access
such as the A-Share market, B-Share market and Taiwan. Consistent with the investment restrictions
applicable to the Sub-Fund, the Sub-Fund’s net derivative exposure may be up to 50% of the its Net
Asset Value. The Sub-Fund may take short positions through derivatives for hedging purposes only.

These financial statements are prepared for the Sub-Fund only.

Summary of material accounting policies

The material accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to ali the years presented, unless ctherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

The financial statements of the Sub-Fund have been prepared in accordance with IFRS Accounting
Standards, IFRS Accounting Standards comprise the following authoritative literature:

» |IFRS Accounting Standards

* |AS Standards

+ Interpretations developed by the IFRS Interpretations Committee (IFRIC Interpretations) or its
predecesscr body, the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC Interpretations).

The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as madified by the
revaluation of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives which are measured at
fair value through profit or loss. The financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$").

The preparation of financial statements in confermity with IFRS Accounting Standards requires the use
of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires the Manager and the Trustee to exercise their
judgement in the process of applying the Sub-Fund's accounting policies. The areas involving a higher
degres of judgement or complexity, and areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements, are disclosed in Note 4.

13



CFund - China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Annual Report and Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2024

Notes to the Financial Statements

2.
(@)

(b}

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Basis of preparation (continued)

Standards and amendments to existing standards effective 1 January 2024

There are no amendment to standards and interpretations listed above is expected to have a material
effect on the financial statements of the Sub-Fund.

New and amended standards not yet adopted by the Sub-Fund

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for periods
beginning after 1 January 2024, and have not been early adopted in preparing these financial statements.
The Sub-Fund's assessment of the impact of these new standards and amendments is set out below:

(i}

(i)

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments — Amendments o
IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 (effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026)

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements (effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2027)

The IASB issued the new standard on presentation and disclosure in financial statements, which
replaces IAS 1, with a focus on updates to the statement of profit or loss.

The Sub-Fund is currently still assessing the effect of the forthcoming standard and amendments.
No other new standards or amendments to standards are expected to have a material effect on
the financial statements of the Sub-Fund.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

0]

(if)

Assets

The Sub-Fund classifies its investments based on beth the Sub-Fund’s business model for
managing those financial assets and the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial
assets. The portfolio of financial assets is managed and performance is evaluated on a fair valug
basis. The Sub-Fund is primarily focused on fair value information and uses that information to
assess the assets’ performance and to make decisions. The Sub-Fund has not taken the option
to irrevocably designate any equity securities as fair value through other comprehensive income.
Consequently, all investments are measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Liabilities

The Sub-Fund makes short sales in which a borrowed security is sold in anticipation of a decline
in the market value of that security, or it may use short sales for various arbitrage transactions.
Short sales are held for trading and are consequently classified as financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss. Derivative contracts that have a negative fair value are presented as
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.

As such, the Sub-Fund classifies all of its investment portfclic as financial assets or liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss.
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2,
(b)

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss {continued)

Recognition, derecognition and measurement

Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for on the trade date basis. Investments are initially
recognised at fair value, excluding transaction costs which are expensed as incurred, and are
subsequently re-measured at fair value. Realised and unrealised gains and losses on investments are
included in the statement of comprehensive income in the pericd in which they arise. Investments are
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments have expired or the Sub-Fund
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.

When the Sub-Fund purchases an option, an amount equal to fair value which is based on the premium
paid is recorded as an assets. When the Sub-Fund writes an option, an amount equal to fair value which
is based on the premium received by the Sub-Fund recorded as liability. When options are closed, the
difference between the premium and the amount paid or received, net of brokerage commissions, or the
full amount of the premium if the option expires worthless, is recognised as a gain or loss and is
presented in the statement of comprehensive income within other net changes in fair value of financial
assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,

Subsequent to initial recognition, all financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss are measured at fair value. Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial
assets or financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss" category are presented in the statement
of comprehensive income within other net changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

Fair value estimation

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market and participants at the measurement date. The fair value of financial assets
and liabilities traded in active markets are based on quoted market prices at the close of trading on the
reporting date.

Investments that are listed or traded on an exchange are fair valued based on quoted last traded prices.

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities that are not traded in an active market (for example, over
the counter derivatives) determined using valuation techniques. The Sub-Fund uses a variety of methods
and makes conditions existing at each reporting date. Valuation techniques used include the use of
cocmparable recent ordinary transactions between market participants, reference to cther instruments
that are substantially the same, discounted cash flow analysis, option pricing models and other valuation
technigues commeoenly used by market participants making the maximum use of market inputs and relying
as little as possible on entity-specific inputs.
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(d)

(e)

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
Derivatives

Derivatives are recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into and
are subsequently remeasured at their fair value, Fair values are obtained from quoted market prices in
active markets, including recent market transactions, and valuation techniques, including discounted
cash flow models and option pricing models, as appropriate. Al derivatives are carried as assets when
fair value is positive and as liabilities when fair value is negative.

Subsequent changes in the fair value of any derivative instrument are recognised immediately in the
statement of comprehensive income.

Transaction costs

Transaction and transaction handling costs (together the “transaction costs”) are costs incurred to
acquire/dispose financial assets or liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. They include the fees
and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers. Transaction costs, when incurred, are
immediately recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as expense.

Foreign currency translation
1) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary
economic envircnment in which the Sub-Fund operates (the "functional currency"). The
performance of the Sub-Fund is measured and reported to the unitholders in Hong Kong Dollar
("HK$"). The Manager considers Hong Kong Dollar as the currency that most faithfully
represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. The
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong Dollar, which is the Sub-Fund's functional and
presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency assets and liabilities are
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the year end date.
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation are included in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to cash and cash equivalents are presented in the
statement of comprehensive income within "Net exchange loss".

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair
value through profit or loss are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within
"Net change in unrealised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss" and
"Net realised gain/(loss) on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.
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(f)

(9)

(h)

(i)

)

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term
highly liguid investments with original maturities of three months or less, and bank overdrafts, if any.

Margin accounis
Margin accounts represent margin deposits held in respect of open exchange-traded derivative contracts.
Collateral

Cash collateral provided by the Sub-Fund is identified in the statement of financial pesition as margin
cash and is not included as a component of cash and cash equivalents. The cash collateral is provided
for the swap trades derivatives with broker. For collateral other than cash, if the party to whom the
collateral is provided has the right by contract or custom to sell or re-pledge the collateral, the Sub-Fund
classifies that asset in its statement of financial position separately from other assets and identifies the
asset as pledged collateral. Where the party to whom the collateral is provided does not have the right
to sell or re-pledge, a disclosure of the collateral provided is made in the notes to the financial statements.

Amounts due from/to brokers

Amounts due from brokers represent receivables for securities sold that have been contracted for but
not yet settled on the statement of financial position date.

Amounts due to brokers are payables for securities purchased (in a regular way transaction) that have
been contracted for but not yet delivery on the statement of financial position date. These amounts are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liahility simultaneously.

The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the

normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the
counterparty.
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(k)

(B

(m)

Summary of material accounting policies {continued)
Other receivables

Other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost,
At each reporting date, the Sub-Fund shall measure the loss allowance on amounts due from brokers
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition. If, at the reporting date, the credit risk has not increased significantly since
initial recognition, the Sub-Fund shall measure the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month
expected credit losses. Significant financial difficulties of the brokers, probability that the brokers will
enter bankruptey or financial recrganisation, and default in payments are all considered indicators that
a loss allowance may be required. If the credit risk increases to the point that it is considered to be
credit impaired, interest income will be calculated based on the gross carrying amount adjusted for the
loss allowance. A significant increase in credit risk is defined by the management as any contractual
payment which is more than 30 days past due. Any contractual payment which is more than 90 days
past due is considered credit impaired.

Other payables and accruals

Other payables and accruals are recognised injtially at fair value and subsequently stated at
amortised cost. The difference between the proceeds and the amount payable is recognised over the
period of the payable using the effective interest method. Other payables are classified as current
liabilities if payment is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Investment Income and expenses

Dividend income is recognised on the ex-dividend date with the corresponding foreign withholding
taxes recorded as ataxation charge.

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method. Expenses
are accounted for on an accrual basis.

Dividend income from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income within dividend income when the Sub-Fund’s right to receive payments is
established. Interest on debt securities at fair value through profit or loss is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income. Dividend expense on short assets of equity securities is included within other
net changes in fair value on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss.
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(n)

{0)

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
Redeemable units
The Sub-Fund's redeemable units, which are redeemable at the holder's option, represents puttable

financial instruments. Puttable financial instruments are classified as equity in accordance with 1AS 32
(Amendment), “Financial instruments: Presentation” if they meet all the following criteria:

. the puttable financial instruments entitle the holder to a pro-rata share of net asset valug;

. the puttable financial instruments are the most subordinated units in issue and unit features are
identical;

. there are no contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset; and

. the total expected cash flows from the puttable financial instrument over its life are based

substantially on the profit or loss of the Sub-Fund.
Otherwise, puttable financial instruments are classified as financial liability.
As at years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Sub-Fund has Class A HKD {(Accumuiation), Class
A HKD (Distribution) and Class A RMB (Accumulation) units issued, which were subject to different terms
as disclosed herein. The redeemable units have been classified as financial liabilities in accordance with
IAS 32, given that there was no subordination and they did not have identical rights.
The redeemable units of the Sub-Fund are issued or redeemed at the holder’s option at prices based on
the Sub-Funds’ net asset value per unit as at the close of business on the relevant dealing day. The
Sub-Fund net asset value per unit is calculated by dividing the net assets atiributable to the unitholders
with the total number of outstanding units.
Taxation

The Sub-Fund currently incurs withholding taxes imposed by certain countries on investment income.
Such income is recorded gross of withholding taxes in the statement of comprahensive income.,

Withholding taxes are included as taxation in the statement of comprehensive income,
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(P

()

(r)

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
Unconsolidated structured entities

A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not the dominant
facior in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate to administrative tasks
only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual arrangements. A structured entity
often has some or all of the following features or attributes; (a) restricted activities, (b) a narrow and well-
defined objective, such as to provide investment opportunities for investors by passing on risks and
rewards associated with the assets of the structured entity to investors, (c) insufficient equity to permit
the structured entity to finance its activities without subordinated financial support and (d} financing in
the form of multiple contractually linked instruments to investors that create concentrations of credit or
other risks {tranches).

The Sub-Fund considers all of its investments in other funds (“Investee Funds”) to be investments in
unconsolidated structured entities. The Sub-Fund invests in Investee Funds whose objectives range
from achieving medium to long term capital growth and whose investment strategy does not include the
use of leverage. The Investee Funds are managed by unrelated asset managers and apply various
investment strategies to accomplish their respective investment objectives. The Investee Funds finance
their operations by issuing redeemable shares which are puttable at the hoider’s option and entitles the
holder to a proportional stake in the respective fund’s net assets. The Sub-Fund holds redeemable
shares in each of its Investee Funds.

The change in fair value of each Investee Fund is included in the statement of comprehensive income
in *Net change in unrealised gain/loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss”.

Distribufions payable to unitholders of redeemable shares

The Manager has discretion as to whether or not to make any distribution of dividends, the frequency of
distribution and amount of dividends in respect of the Sub-Fund. The distribution on the redeemable
shares is recognised when it is declared to the unitholders and recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income.

Comparative figures

Where necessary, comparative figures have been re-classified to conform with current year presentation.
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3(a)

Financial risk management

The Sub-Fund is exposed to a variety of risks including but not limited to market price risk, cash flow
and fair value interest rate risk, currency risk, credit and counterparty risk and liquidity risk which are
associated with the markets in which the Sub-Fund invests.

The following is a summary of the main risks and risk management policies.
Market price risk

Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of changes in
market prices {(other than those arising from interest rate risk or currency risk), whether those changes
are caused by factors specific to the individual instrument or factors affecting all instruments in the
market.

All investments present a risk of loss of capital. The Manager moderates this risk through a diversified
portfolio of investment and deliberate securities selection across different sectors in accordance with the
investment objective of the Sub-Fund, The Sub-Fund will not invest in more than 10 per cent of the net
asset value in the securities of a single issuer and will not invest in more than 20 per cent of the net
asset value in the securities of a group companies. The Manager monitors the risk on a regular basis
and rebalances the portfalio of investment from time to time to reflect any change to the composition or
the weighting.

The following table discloses the investments of the Sub-Fund by product type as at 31 December 2024
and 2023.

2024 2023
HK$ HK$
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Listed investments
- Equities 171,465,606 72,780,060
- Exchange-traded funds 33,016,801 36,761,471
- Depositary receipts - 10,826,274
204,482,407 120,367,805
- Derivatives
- Listed futures - 606,289
- 606,289
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
- Derivatives
- Listed futures (21,510) -
Financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss 204,460,897 120,974,094
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3(a) Market price risk (Continued)

The following table discloses the equities, exchange-traded funds and debt securities portfolio
investments of the Sub-Fund by geographical sectors as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023
Note Fair value of % of Fair value of % of
investment net asset investment net asset
HK$ value HK$ value
Listed equities and depositary
receipts
Hong Kong 169,212,205 75.74% 72,780,060 50.69%
China 2,252,701 1.01% - -
United States - ADR - - 10,826,274 7.54%
171,465,606 76.75% 83,606,334 58.23%
Exchange-traded funds
Hong Kong 27,974,651 12.52% 15,629,349 10.81%
United States 5,042,150 2.26% 21,232,122 14.79%
33,016,801 14.78% 36,761,471 25.60%
Futures
Hong Kong (21,510} {0.01%) 606,289 0.42%
6 (21,510} {0.01%) 606,289 0.42%
Toftal 120,974,094 84.25%

204,460,897 91.52%
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3(a}

Financial risk management (Continued)
Market price risk (Continued)

The following table discloses the Sub-Fund’s investment in the equities and depository receipt portfolio
by industrial sectors as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

2024 2023

Fair value of % of net Fair value of % of net
investments asset investments asset
HK$ value HK$ value

Listed equities
Consumer discretionary 59,010,675 26.41% 22,903,037 15.95%
Energy 6,905,380 3.09% 6,435,000 4.48%
Financials 51,573,650 23.09% 28,581,705 19.91%
Industrials 7,789,061 3.49% - -
Information technology 14,785,800 6.62% 3,937,440 2.74%
Real estate - - 1,320,000 0.92%
Telecommunication services 28,959,980 12.96% 20,429,152 14.23%
Utilities 2,441,060 1.09% - -
171,465,606 76.75% 83,606,334 58.23%

'As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no investment in a single issuer of more than 10% of net

asset value of the Sub-Fund and there was no investment in a group company of more than 20% of net
asset value of the Sub-Fund.

Market price risk arises mainly from uncertainty about future prices of financial instruments held. It
represents the potential loss the Sub-Fund might suffer through holding market positions in the face of
unfavourable price movements. In seeking to achieve the long-term capital appreciation investment
objective of the Sub-Fund, the Manager adopts its value investing approach and will not be restricted by
any particular benchmark index in the selection of securities and construction of the Sub-Fund's portfolio.

The table below summarises the sensitivity of the Sub-Fund's investment in listed equities, depository
receipt and exchange-traded funds to the benchmark index, Hang Seng Index. The analysis is based
on the assumptions that the benchmark index increased/decreased with alt other variables held constant
and that the Sub-Fund's investment portfolio moved according to their historical correlation with the
Hang Seng index. The Manager does not manage price risk with reference to any market index. The
benchmark index used below is for guidance and performance comparison only. [n practice, the actual
trading results may differ from the sensitivity analysis below and the difference could be material. The
sensitivity of the Sub-Fund’s investment in listed debt securities, refer to Note 3(b).

Effect on

investment portfolio

Estimated and on profit/(loss)

changes in for the period
% HK3$
+/- +/-
As at 31 December 2024
Hang Seng Index 25.20 57,161,750
As at 31 December 2023
Hang Seng Index 22.30 30,212,659
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3(a)

3(b)

3(c)

Financial risk management (Continued)

Market price risk (Continued)

Disclosures above are shown in absolute terms, changes and impacts could be positive or negative.
Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will filuctuate due to changes in market
interest rates.

As the Sub-Fund has no significant interest-bearing financial assets apart from bank halances and margin
deposits, the Sub-Fund’s income and operating cash flow are substantially independent of changes in
market interest rates and Management currently considers the Sub-Fund's exposure to interest rate risk
to be insignificant. All cash and cash equivalents and margin deposits are short-term with maturity less
than three months. Receivables and payables are interest-free and have settlement date less than 1 year.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Sub-Fund had cash and cash at bank of HK$18,510,873 (2023:
HK$15,954,307), margin deposits of HK$7,060,255 (2023: HK$7,041,224) and deposit with broker
HK$NIl (2023: HK$213,830). If interest rates had been 50 basis points {2023: 50 basis points) higher or
lower with all other variables held constant, total comprehensive income would have been HK$127,856
(2023: HK$116,047) higher or lower as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the value of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Sub-Fund has assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than HKS, the
Sub-Fund’s functional and presentation currency. The Sub-Fund is therefore exposed to currency risk,
as the value of the assets and liabilities denominated in other currencies will fluctuate due to changes in
exchange rates.

The Sub-Fund has net financial assets of HK$5,042,150 (2023: HK$32,058,398) denominated in United

States dollars, which is pegged to the HK$ and hence, the Sub-Fund does not consider its currency risk
related to United States dollars to be significant.
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3

3{c)

3(d)

Financial risk management {Continued)
Currency risk {continued}

The table below summarises the Fund's monetary and non-monetary exposure to different major
currency:

2024 2023
Monetary  Non-Monetary Monetary Non-Monetary
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
equivalents equivalents equivalents Equivalents
+- +f- +- +-

CNY 49,433 2,252,701 1,785,287 -

The table below summarises the impact on net assets attributable to unitholders as a result of increases/decreases
of key exchange rates on the exposures tabled above. The analysis is based on the assumption that the exchange
rate had increased / decreased by 5% with all other variables held constant.

2024 2023
Monetary  Non-Monetary Monetary Non-Monetary
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Change equivalents equivalents Change equivalents Equivalents
+- +- +/- +/- +/- +-

CNY 2% 989 45,0564 2.5% 44,632 -

Credit and counterparty risk

Credit and counterparty risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will be unable or unwilling to mest
a commitment that it has entered into with the Sub-Fund.

The Sub-Fund is exposed to credit and counterparty risk on dividend receivables, deposit with broker,
margin deposits, and bank balances.

The Sub-Fund limits its exposure to credit rigsk by transacting the majority of its investments and
contractual commitment activities with broker-dealers, banks and regulated exchanges with high credit
ratings and that the Trustee and the Manager consider to be well established.

The Sub-Fund measures credit risk and expected credit losses using probability of default, exposure at
default and loss given default. Management considers both historical analysis and forward looking
information in determining any expected credit loss. At 31 December 2024 and 2023, ail dividend
receivables, deposit with broker, margin deposits, cash collateral and bank balances are held with
counterparties with a credit rating of A- (2023: A-) or higher are due to be settled within 1 month, except
for cash collateral and the other financial assets at amortised cost are due to be settled within 6 months.
Applying the requirements of IFRS 9, the expected credit loss is immaterial for the Sub-Fund and, as
such, no expected credit loss has been recognised within the financial statements.
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3(d)

Financial risk management (Continued)

Credit and counterparty risk (Continued)

All transactions in listed securities are settled or paid for upon delivery using approved and reputable
brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal, as delivery of securities sold is made only when the
custodfan has received payment. Payment is made on a purchase when the securities have been

received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet its obligation.

The table below summarises the exposures to the Sub-Fund's counterparty as at 31 December 2024

and 2023 together with its credit rating:

At 31 December 2024 HK$
Financial assets at fair value .
through profit or loss and derivatives

Bank of China (Hong Keng) Limited 204,482,407
Morgan Stanley & Co. International PLC -

Margin deposits and deposit with broker

Morgan Stanley & Co. International PLC 7,060,255
Cash and cash equivalents

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited 18,510,873
At 31 December 2023 HK$

Financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss and derivatives

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited 120,367,805
Morgan Stanley & Co. International PLC 606,289

Margin deposits and deposit with broker
Morgan Stanley & Co. Internationai PLC 7,255,054

Cash and cash equivalents
Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited 15,954,307

Credit

rating

A+
A+

A+

A+

Credit
rating

A+
At

A+

A+

Source of credit
rating

Standard & Poor's
Standard & Poor's

Standard & Poor's

Standard & Poor's

Source of credit
rating

Standard & Poor’s
Standard & Poaor’s

Standard & Poor’s

Standard & Poor's

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 is the carrying amount of the
financial assets as shown on the statement of net assets. The Manager considers that none of these

assets are impaired nor past due but not impaired.
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3(e)

Financial risk management (Confinued)
Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Sub-Fund may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to settle
its obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous.

The Sub-Fund is exposed to daily cash redemption from unithelders. In accordance with the Explanatory
Memorandum, with a view fo protecting the interests of all unitholders, the Manager may, with the
approval of the Trustee, limit the number of units redeemed on any redemption day (whether by sale to
the Manager or by cancellation of units) to 10% of the total number of units in issue,

The Manager manages liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities to meet
the normal operating commitments. Cash and cash equivalents have maturity of less than three months
and the majority of the Sub-Fund's investments are traded in active markets and can be readily disposed
of.

The table below analyses the Sub-Fund’'s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity
groupings based on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The
amounts in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal
their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

2024 2023

Less than Less than

3 months 3 months

HK$ HK$

Management fee payable 299,983 179,772
Trustee fee payable 41,333 40,000
Amounts payable on redemption of units 6,092,504 76,569
Other payables and accruals 89,532 236,364
Distributions payable tc unitholders 191,138 177,400
Net asset attributable to unitholders 223,403,582 143,583,985
230,118,082 144,294 090

As at 31 December 2024, the total assets of the Sub-Fund amounted to HK$230,139,582 (2023
HK$144,294,090). The Sub-Fund manages its liquidity risk by investing in securities that it expects to
be able to liquidate within 1 month or less.

At 31 December 2024, 2 unitholders held 61% and 32% (2023: 76% and 22%) of the Sub-Fund’s units
on nominee basis respectively.
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3 Financial risk management {(Continued)

3(f) Offsetting and amounts subject to master netting arrangements and similar agreements

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Sub-Fund was subject to master netting arrangements for the
derivative assets and liabilities of the Sub-Fund held with these counterparties. The margin balance
maintained by the Sub-Fund is for the purpeses of providing collateral on derivative positions.

The following table presents the Sub-Fund's financial assets and liabilities subject to offsetting,
enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements. The table is presented by type of
financial instrument.

Financial assets subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar agreements:

A B C=A-B D E=C-D
Gross Related amounts not set- Net amount
amounts of off in the statement of
recognised Net amounts financial position
financial of financial (i) D(ii)
liabilities assets Financial Cash
Gross set-off in presented instryments  callateral
amounts of the inthe
recoghised statement statement of
financial  of financial financial
assets position position
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HKS

As at 31 December 2024

Margin deposits 7,080,255 - 7,060,255 21,510 - 7,038,745

7,060,265 - 7,060,255 21,510 - 7,038,745

As at 31 December 2023

Derivatives 606,289 - 606,289 - - 608,289
Margin deposits 7,041,224 - 7,041,224 - - 7,041,224

Deposit with
broker 213,830 - 213,830 - - 213,820
7,861,343 - 7,861,343 - - 7,861,343
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3 Financial risk management {Continued)

3D Offsetting and amounts subject to master netting arrangements and similar agreements
(Continued)

Financial liabilities subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting arrangements and similar

agreements,
A B C=A-B D E=C-D
Gross Net Related amounts notset-  Net amount
amounts of amounts of off in the statement of
recognised financial financial position
financial liabilities B(i) D(ii}
Gross assefs set- presented Financial Cash
amounts of off in the inthe jnstruments  collateral
recognised statement statement
financial of financial of financial
liabilities position position
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$

As at 31 December 2024

Derivatives 21,510 - 21,510 21,510 - -

21,510 - 21,510 21,510 - -

As at 31 December 2023

Derivatives - - - - - -

Amount in D(i) and D(ii) above relate to amounts to set-off that do not qualify for offsetting under (B)
above. This includes {i) amounts which are subject to set-off against the asset (or liability} disclosed in
(A) which have not been offset in the statement of financial position and (ii} any financial collateral
(including cash collateral), both received and pledged.

The Sub-Fund and its counterparties have elected to settle all transactions on a gross basis. However,
each party has the option to settle all open contracts on a net basis in the event of default of the other
party, Per the terms of the master netting agreement, an event of default includes the following:

- failure by a party to make payment when due;
- bankruptcy.
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3

3(g)

Financial risk management (Continued)
Fair value estimation

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets are based on quoted market
prices at the close of trading on the year end date. The Sub-Fund adopted IFRS 13, “Fair value
measurement”, and utilises the last traded market price for both financial assets and financial liabilities.

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and
those prices represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.

The carrying value less impairment provision of other receivables and payables are assumed to
approximate their fair values. The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by
discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the
Sub-Fund for similar financial instruments.

IFRS 13 requires the Sub-Fund to classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that
reflects the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has
the following levels:

= Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

» Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2}.

= Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable
inputs) {level 3).

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in its entirety
is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its
entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed against the fair value measurement
in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable inputs that require significant adjustment
based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is a level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance
of a particular input to the fair value measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors
specific to the asset or liability.

The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgement by the Sub-Fund, The
Manager considers observable data to be that market data that is readily available, regutarly distributed
or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided by independent sources that are actively
involved in the relevant market.
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3 Financial risk management (Continued}
3{g) Fair value estimation (Continued}

The following tables analyse within the fair value hierarchy the Sub-Fund's investments at 31 December
2024 and 2023:

As at 31 December 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Assets
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or

loss
Listed equities 171,465,606 - - 171,465,606
Exchange-traded funds 33,016,801 - - 33,016,801
Total 204,482 407 - - 204,482,407
Liabilities
Financial liabilities at fair

value through profit or

loss
Derivatives
- Listed futures (21,510) - - {21,510}
Total {21,510) - (21,510)
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3 Financial risk management (Continued)

3(g}  Fair value estimation (Continued)

As at 31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Assets
Financial assets at fair
value through profit or
loss
Listed equities 72,780,060 - - 72,780,060
Listed equities — ADR 10,826,274 - - 10,826,274
Exchange-traded funds 36,761,471 - - 36,761,471
120,367,805 - - 120,367,805
Derivatives
- Listed futures 606,289 - - 606,289
606,289 - - 606,289
Total 120,974,094 - - 120,974,094
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3

3(g)

3(h)

Financial risk management {Continued)
Fair value estimation (Continued)
The investments classified in level 1 were fair valued based on quoted market price in an active market.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active and are priced by the market
maker supported by observable inputs are classified within leve! 2.

Investments that trade in markets that are not considered to be active and are priced by the market
maker based on unobservable inputs are classified within level 3.

Investments included within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy include investments in quoted equity swaps.
The swaps have been fair valued based on the difference between quoted market prices of the securities
underlying and contract price. The Sub-Fund did not invest in any level 3 investments during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

There were no transfers between levels during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The assets and liabilities included in the statement of net assets, other than financial assets and liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, are carried at amortised cost; their carrying values are a reasonable
approximation of fair value. There are no other assets or liabilities not at fair value but for which fair value
is disclosed.

Capital risk management

The Sub-Fund’s capital is represented by the net assets attributable to unitholders. The amount of net
assets aftributable to unitholders can change significantly on a daily basis, as the Sub-Fund is subject
to daily subscriptions and redemptions at the discretion of unitholders, as well as changes resulting from
the Sub-Fund’s performance. The Sub-Fund strives to invest the subscriptions in investments that meet
the Sub-Fund's investment objectives while maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet unitholder
redemptions.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Sub-Fund's policy is to perform the following:

« monitor the level of daily subscriptions and redemptions relative to the liquid assets; and
+ redeem and issue units in accordance with the Trust Deed of the Sub-Fund.

The Trustee and Manager monitor capital on the basis of the value of net assets attributable to
unitholders.

Significant accounting judgements and estimates
The preparation of the Sub-Fund's financial statements requires management to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts recognised in the financial statements. However,

uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates could result in ouicomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amount of the asset or liability affected in the future periods.
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4

Significant accounting judgements and estimates {Continued)

Fair value of unlisted investments

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Sub-Fund held a number of derivatives that were valued by
reference to broker quotes. Such broker quotes adopted to fair value the investments may be indicative
and not executable or legally binding. In determining the fair vaiue of such investments, the Trustee and
the Manager exercise judgments and estimates on the sources of brokers and the guantity and quality
of broker quotes used.

Actual transacted prices may differ from the broker quotes provided by the brokers. The Trustee and the
Manager consider that in the absence of any other reliable market sources, the broker quotes available
to them reflect the best estimate of fair value of those uniisted investments. Although best estimate is
used in estimating fair values, there are inherent limitations in any valuation technique. Estimated fair
values may differ from the values that would have been used if a readily available market existed.

Financial instruments by category
Financial assets

Apart from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss and derivatives which are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, all other financial assets as disclosed in the statement
of net assets, including dividend receivable, amounts due from brokers, receivables on subscriptions,
cash collateral, margin deposits, other receivables and bank balances are categorised as “financial
assets at amortised cost”.

Financial liabilities

Apart from derivatives which is classified as financial liabilities at fair vaiue through profit or loss, all other
financial liabilities as disclosed in the statement of financial position, including management fee payable,
trustee fee payable, amounts due to brokers, performance fee payable, other payables and accruals,
amounts payable on redemption of units and dividend payable to unitholders, are categorised as
“financial liabilities at amortised cost”.
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6. Derivatives

The Sub-Fund holds the following derivative financial instrument:

Futures

Futures are contractual obligations to buy or sell financial instruments on a future date at a specified
price established in an organised market. The futures contracts are collateralised by cash or marketable
securities; changes in the futures contracts' value are settied daily with the exchange. Futures are settled

on a net basis.

As at 31 December 2024, the Sub-Fund held futures as shown below:

Futures Contract size

Financial liabilities

MINI HANG SENG INDEX
FUTURE JAN2025 47

As at 31 December 2023, the Sub-Fund held futures as shown below:

Futures Confract size
Financial assets

HANG SENG TECH INDEX
FUTURE JAN2024 30

MINI HANG SENG INDEX
FUTURE JAN2024 105
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Notional value

HK$

9,440,890

Noticnal value
HK$

5,686,500

17,988,600

Position

Long

Position

Long

Long

Fair value
HKS

(21,510)

Fair value
HK$

184,250

422,039

606,289
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7.

Unconsolidated structured entities

Unconsolidated structured entities consist of investments in Investee Funds which are subject to the
terms and conditions of the respective Investee Funds' offering documents and are susceptible to market
price risk arising from uncertainties about future values of those structured entities. The Manager makes
investment decisions after extensive due diligence of the underlying fund, its strategy and the overall
quality of the underlying fund’s manager.

The Sub-Fund's holding in Investee Funds, as a percentage of the respective structured entity's total net
asset value, will vary from time to time dependent on the volume of subscriptions and redemptions at
structured entities level. It is possible that the Sub-Fund may, at any point in time, hold a majority of a
structured entity’s total shares in issue.

The table below summaries the Sub-Fund's holdings in Investee Funds as at 31 December 2024 and
2023:

% of net asset % of net asset
value of the value of the
Investee Investee
Place of Funds as at Funds as at 31
incorpo- Dealing 31 December December
Investee Funds Fund Manager ration frequency 2024 2023
CSOP HANG SENG CSOP Asset Hong Daily 0.012% 0.013%
TECH INDEX ETF Management Kong
Limited
HANG SENG CHINA Hang Seng Hong Daily 0.016% -
ENTERPRISES Investment Kong
INDEX ETF Management Ltd
ISHARES CHINA BlackRock Fund USA Daily - 0.018%
LARGE-CAP ETF Advisors -
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7.

Unconsolidated structured entities (Continued)

The table below summaries the Sub-Fund's holdings in Investee Funds as at 31 December 2024 and
2023

% of net asset % of net asset
value of the value of the
Investee Investee
Place of Funds as at Funds as at 31
incorpo Dealing 31 December December
Investee Funds Fund Manager ration frequency 2024 2023
ISHARES MSCI BlackRock Fund USA Daily 0.007% 0.017%
CHINA ETF Advisors
KRANESHARES Krane Funds USA Daily 0.004% 0.017%
GLOBAL CARBON Advisors LLC
ETF
TRACKER FUND OF Hang Seng Hong Daily 0.013% 0.009%
HONG KONG Investment Kong

Management Ltd

Movements in the fair value of the Investee Funds’ porifolio and corresponding movements in the fair
value of the Investee Funds may expose the Sub-Fund to a loss. The Sub-Fund’s maximum exposure
to loss from its interests in structured entities is equal to the total fair value of its investments in structured
entities. Once the Sub-Fund has disposed of its shares in a structured entity, the Sub-Fund ceases to
be exposed to any risk from that structured entity.

The exposure to investments in Investee Funds at fair value is disclosed in the following table. These

investments are included in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in the statement of financial
position,
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7.

Unconsolidated structured entities (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024

CSOP HANG SENG TECH INDEX ETF

HANG SENG CHINA ENTERPRISES INDEX ETF
ISHARES MSCI CHINA ETF

KRANESHARES CS| CHINA INTERNET FUND
TRACKER FUND OF HONG KONG

As at 31 December 2023

CSOP HANG SENG TECH INDEX ETF
ISHARES CHINA LARGE-CAP ETF

ISHARES MSCI CHINA ETF

KRANESHARES CSI CHINA INTERNET FUND
TRACKER FUND OF HONG KONG

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023 there were no capital commitment cobligations and no amounts due

to structured entities for unsettled purchases.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, total unrealised gain/(loss) of HK$1,837 655 (2023:
unrealised loss of HK$1,945619) and realised gainfloss of HK$771,531 (2023: realised loss of
HK$85,555,414) were incurred on investments in investee Funds.

Margin deposits and deposit with broker

(a) Margin accounts represent margin deposits held in respect of open exchange-traded derivative
contracts. As at 31 December 2024, the Sub-Fund held margin deposits of HK$7,060,255 {2023:
HK$7,041,224) in Morgan Stanley & Co. International PLC of which HK$1,068,921 (2023

HK$2,276,495) is restricted.

(b) As at 31 December 2024, the Sub-Fund has deposit with broker of HK$Nil (2023: HK$213,830) in

Morgan Stanley & Co. Internationai PLC.
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Fair value
HK$

3,999,355
4,323,096
2,838,757
2,203,393
19,662,200

33,016,801

Fair value
HK$

4,140,974
6,325,839
7,191,598
7,714,684
11,388,375

36,761,471

% of net
assets

1.78%
1.94%
1.27%
0.99%
8.80%

14.78%

% of net
assets

2.88%
4.41%
5.01%
5.37%
7.93%

25.60%
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8.

Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to unitholders per unit

The Sub-Fund has issued three classes of units. The number of units in issue of the Sub-Fund is
classified as financial. All issued redeemable units are fully paid. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023,
the Sub-Fund has launched Class A HKD (Distribution), Class A HKD (Accumulation} and Class A RMB
{(Accumulation) units.

For Class A HKD (Distribution) units, it is the current intention of the Manager that distributions will be
made on a quarterly basis. Distributions can be paid out of capital or effectively out of capital of the Sub-
Fund. There is no guarantee that any distributions will be made and there is no target level of distribution
payout. Any distributions payable (if any) will be automatically reinvested unless otherwise elected by
the Unitholder. Refer to note 12 for the distribution made during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023,

For all other classes of units, it is the current intention of the Manager that distributions of income will
not be made from the Sub-Fund.

Class A HKD Class A HKD Class A RMB

{Accumulation} (Distribution) {Accumulation)

2024 Units Units Units

At the end of the year 2,537,956.9951 366,304.6100 130,418.4124
2023

At the end of the year 1,857,910.6147 393,959.4036 131,034.1476

Unitholders who wish to subscribe or redeem their units in the Sub-Fund may do on and dealing day
which is (@) any business day, except any business day, determined at the Manager’s discretion, on
which any exchange or market on which a substantial portion of the Sub-Fund's investments is traded
is closed or on which dealings are restricted or suspended; or (b) such other day as the Manager may
determine from time to time with the approval of the Trustee,

In addition, each class of units is subjected to HK$100 minimum initial and subsequent subscription
amounts and holding amounts, and minimum redemption and switching amounts.

As at As at

31 December 31 December

2024 2023

HK$ HK$

Net assets attributable to unitholders per unit (per statement of
financial position)

- Class A HKD (Accumulation} Units 77.3346 64.0723

- Class A HKD (Distribution) Units 51.6575 44,9648
RMB RMB

- Class A RMB (Accumulation) Units 59.4327 47 5722
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9.

Number of units in issue and net assets attributable to unitholders per unit (Continued)

Establishment costs are expensed as incurred. However, in accordance with the provisions of the
Explanatory Memorandum, establishment costs will be amortised over the first five accounting periods.
As at 31 December 2024, the unamortised establishment costs of the Sub-Fund was Nil {2023:
HK$1,014). The accounting policy of the Fund for the purpose of financia! statements preparation in
compliance with IFRS Accounting Standards is to expense formation costs in the statement of
comprehensive income as incurred, The differences between expensing the formation costs as incurred
in accordance with HKFRS/IFRS and capitalisation and amortisation of the formation costs indicated in
the Explanatory Memorandum of the Sub-Fund resulted in adjustments in the net asset value.

As at As at
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HK$ HK$
Net assets attributable to unitholders as reported in the
statement of financial position 223,403,582 143,583,985
Add: Adjustments for prepayments - 1,014
Adjustments for other differences
- net redemption (Note a) 4,176 11
- distribution to unitholders (Note a} 191,138 177,400
- fee accruals (Note b) - 16,726
Dealing net asset value 223,598,396 143,779,136
Dealing net assets attributable to unitholders per unit
- Class A HKD {Accumulation) Units HK$77.3362 HK$64.1589
- Class A HKD (Distribution) Units HK$52.1793 HK$45.0255
- Class A RMB (Accumulation) Units RMB59.4327 RMB47.6365

Note a: The adjustments represent the net redemption and distribution to unithelders which were not
reflected in the dealing net asset value due to the timing difference as at 31 December 2024 and 31
December 2023.

Note b: According to the Explanatory Memorandum, the last dealing day of the Sub-Fund should be the
last business day of the Sub-Fund, which was 31 December 2024 for the year ended 31 December 2024
and 29 December 2023 for the year ended 31 December 2023. The adjusimenis represent certain
expenses made on 31 December 2023 which was reccgnized in the net assets attributable to unitholders
(in accordance with IFRS Accounting Standards).
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10.

1.

Taxation {Continued)
(a) Hong Kong

The Sub-Fund is exempted from Hong Keong profit tax on profits arising from authorised activities
under Section 26A (1A) of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue Ordinance. No Hong Kong profits tax has
been provided as the Sub-Fund is exempted from Hong Kong profits tax.

{b) China

In preparing these financial statements, the Manager has made certain assumptions and used various
estimates concerning the tax exposure which is dependent on what might happen in the future. The
resulting accounting estimates may not equal the related actual results.

The Sub-Fund invests in various derivative instruments linked to “A” shares of companies listed in China
and in "A” shares through Stock Connect. Prior to 17 November 2014, a 10% tax was withheld by the
relevant Qualified Foreign Institutional Investors (“QFIls™) on all China sourced dividends and realised
capital gains. With effect from 17 November 2014, a 10% tax is only withheld on all China sourced
dividend income only.

(c) Other jurisdictions

Overseas withholding tax was charged on certain dividend and investment income received during the
years.

Transactions with related parties and connected persons

The Sub-Fund had the following related parties transactions with the Trustee and the Manager and their
connected persons. Connected persons are those as defined in the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual
Funds established by the SFC. All transactions with related parties, Trustee, Manager and their
connected persons were entered into in the ordinary course of business and on normal commercial
ferms.

(a) As at 31 December 2024, the Sub-Fund placed bank deposits and invesiments amounted fo
HK$18,510,873 (2023: HK$15,954,307) and HK$204,482,407 (2023: HK$120,367,805) respectively
with Bank of China {Hong Kong) Limited, a connected person of the Trustee. For the year ended 31
December 2024, bank interest income amounted to HK$28,033 (2023 HK$32,148) has been earned
by the Sub-Fund.

(b) Trustee fee is charged by the Trustee of the Sub-Fund and the maximum amount of which is equal
to 0.5% per annum of the Net Asset Value of the Sub-Fund, subject to a monthly minimum fee of
HK$40,000. During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the trustee rate is up to 0.15%
per annum. During the year ended 31 December 2024, trustee fee amounting to HK$480,000 (2023;
HK$491,864) was paid to the Trustee of the Sub-Fund. As at 31 December 2024, trustee fee payable
amounted to HK$41,333 (2023: HK$40,000).

{c} Management fee is charged by the Manager of the Sub-Fund. Management fee is calculated at 1.5%
per annum of the net asset value of the Sub-Fund. The management fee is accrued as af each
valuation day and will be payable monthly in arrears. During the year ended 31 December 2024,
management fee amounting to HK$2,817,902 {2023: HK$3,063,873) was charged by the Manager
of the Sub-Fund. As at 31 December 2024, management fee payable amounted to HK$299,993
(2023: HK$179,772).
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11.

Transactions with related parties and connected persons (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f)

(9}

Performance fee is charged by the Manager of the Sub-Fund. Performance fee is calculated at 15%
by which the increase in total of net asset value per unit {prior to the deduction of any provision for
any distribution declared or paid in respect of that Performance Period) during the relevant
performance period of the Sub-Fund in excess of the High Water Mark, High Water Mark is the
higher of initial subscription price and the net asset value per unit as at the end of any previous
performance period in respect of a performance fee was paid. The performance fee is accrued as
at each valuation day and will be payable annually.

During the year ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no performance fee charged by the
Manager of the Sub-Fund. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no performance fee
payable.

In addition to the trustee fee disclosed in Note 11(b), the Sub-Fund had fellowing additional
transactions with trustee during the year ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023,

2024 2023

HK$ HK$

Transaction handling fees 92,020 356,180
Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act

(‘FATCA") service fees 10,000 10,000

Distribution handling fee 600 550

During the year ended 31 December 2024, custodian fee, bank charges and transaction fees
amounted to HK$59,493 (2023: HK$53,857), HK$10,043 (2023: HK$4,427) and HK$145,862 (2023:
HK$877,636) respectively were charged by the custodian.

During the year, the Sub-Fund invested in the listed securities of Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited,
the connected person of the Trustee. As at 31 December 2024, the Sub-Fund held 945,000 units
(2023: Nil) of Bank of China Ltd. H shares with fair value of HK$3,751,8650 (2023: Nil} and received
dividend income amounted to HK$319,692 (2023: Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2024.
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11.

Transactions with related parties and connected persons of the Manager (Continued)
(h) Holdings in the Sub-Fund

The Sub-Fund allows the Manager, its connected perscons and other funds managed by the Manager
to subscribe for, and redeem, units in the Sub-Fund. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the holdings

in the Sub-Fund by the Manager and its connected persons was as follow:

Number of Number of
Class A HKD Class A HKD
(Accumulation) {Accumulation)
2024 2023
Units Units
Manager

As at 1 January 1,000.0000 1,000.0000
As at 31 December 1,000.0000 1,000.0000
Number of Number of
Class A HKD Class A HKD
{Accumulation) {Accumulation)
2024 2023
Units Units

Connected persons of the Manager
As at 1 January* 65,827.1044 1,259,880.3202

Units subscribed during the year
Units redeemed during the year

As at 31 December

Connected persons of the Manager
As at 1 January**

As at 31 December

976,829.3781

1,042,656.4825

(1,259,880.3202)

Number of Number of
Class A HKD Class A HKD
{Distribution) (Distribution)

2024 2023
Units Units

166,035.6586

166,035.6596

*  There are two parties that held 65,827.1044 Class A HKD (Accumulation) units during the year
ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, which had become the connected persons
of the Manager since 5 December 2024,

**  There are two parties that held 166,035.6586 Class A HKD (Distribution) units during the year

ended 31 December 2024 and 31 December 2023, which had become the connected persons
of the Manager since 5 December 2024,
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12, Distributions
For the For the
year ended year ended
31 December 31 December
2024 2023
HK$ HK$
Undistributed income at the beginning for the year - -
Profit/(loss) after tax and before distribution 37,643,620 (22,003,882)
Distributions to unitholders (746,756) (855,548)
Undistributed income carried forward at the ending of the
year - -
As at 31 December 2024, distributions payable to unitholders amounted to HK$191,138 (2023:
HK$177,400).
Subject to the Manager's discretion, the dividends will be declared on quarterly basis on such date which
is the end of March, June, September and December of each year. Dividends can be paid out of capital
or effectively out of capital of the relevant Class and may result in immediate reduction of net asset value
per unit of the Sub-Fund.,
Distribution per unit - Class A HKD {Distribution} unit
2024 2023
Declaration date HK$ per unit Declaration date HK$ per unit
2 April 2024 0.4321 3 April 2023 0.5696
2 July 2024 04713 3 July 2023 0.50986
2 October 2024 0.5553 3 October 2023 0.4756
2 January 2025 0.5218 2 January 2024 0.4503
13. Soft commission arrangement

During the year, the Manager has not entered into soft commission with brokers, under which certain
goods and services used to support investment decision making are obtained from third parties and
are paid for by the brokers in consideration of transactions of the Sub-Fund directed to the brokers.
These may include, for example, research and advisory services, economic and political analysis,
portfolio analysis including valuation and performance measurement, market analysis and data and
guotation services, computer hardware and software incidental to the above goods and services (2023;
Nil).

During the year, the Manager and its connected persons have not participated in any soft commission
arrangements in respect of any transactions made for the Sub-Fund {2023; Nil).

14. Events after the reporting period

No events or transactions have occurred after the end of the reporting period that affects the financial
statements of the Sub-Fund for the year ended 31 December 2024,

15. Approval of the financial statements

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by Trustee and the Manager on 25
April 2025.
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Investment Portfolio (Unaudited)
As at 31 December 2024

Market Net asset
. value value
Holdings HKS o,
Listed equity securities - China

CONTEMPORARY AMPEREX TECHNOLCGY CO LTD-A 8,000 2,252,701 1.01%
2,252,701 1.01%

Listed equity securifies - Hong Kong
AlA GROUFP LTD 98,600 5,651,180 2.48%
ALIBABA GROUP HLDG LTD 205,400 16,924,960 7.58%
ANTA SPORTS PRODUCTS LTD 25,800 2,008,530 0.90%
BANK OF CHINA LTD-H 945,000 3,751,650 1.68%
BYD CO LTD-H 17,000 4,532,200 2.03%
CHINA COMMUNICATIONS CONSTRUCTION CO LTD-H 439,000 2,410,110 1.08%
CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORP-H 2,285,000 14,806,800 6.63%
CHINA MORBILE LTD 121,000 9,268,600 4.15%
CHINA RESOURCES POWER HLDGS CO 62,000 1,170,560 0.52%
CK INFRASTRUCTURE HLDGS LTD 22,000 1,270,500 0.57%
CNOOC LTD 303,000 5,793,360 2.58%
GEELY AUTOMOBILE HLDGS LTD 179,000 2,652,780 1.19%
HONG KONG EXCHANGES & CLEARING LTD 11,700 3,449,160 1.54%
HSBC HLDGS PLC 169,600 12,855,680 5.75%
INDUSTRIAL & COMMERCIAL BK OF CHINA-H 1,258,000 6,554,180 2.93%
JD.COM INC 34,450 4,685,200 2.10%
MEITUAN-CLASS B 103,300 18,670,610 7.01%
NETEASE INC 8,200 1,134,880 0.51%
PETROCHINA CO LTD-H 182,000 1,112,020 0.50%
PING AN INSURANCE GROUP CQ OF CHINA LTD-H 100,000 4,605,000 2.06%
POP MART INTL GROUP LTD 42,200 3,783,230 1.69%
SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTL CORP 88,500 2,814,300 1.26%
TECHTRONIC INDUSTRIES COLTD 30,500 3,126,250 1.40%
TENCENT HLDGS LTD 44,500 18,556,500 8.31%
TRIP.COM GROUP LTD 5,550 2,897,000 1.34%
XIAOMI CORP-CLASS B SHARE 347,000 11,971,500 5.36%
XPENG INC 47,300 2,206,545 0.99%
YUE YUEN INDUSTRIAL HLDG 64,000 1,413,600 0.50%
ZHONGSHENG GROUP HLDGS LTD 174,500 2,436,020 1.00%
169,212,905 75.74%
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Investment Portfolio (Unaudited) (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

Exchange-traded fund — Hong Kong

CS8OP HANG SENG TECH INDEX ETF

HANG SENG CHINA ENTERPRISES INDEX ETF
TRACKER FUND OF HONG KONG

Exchange-traded fund — United States
ISHARES MSCI CHINA ETF
KRANESHARES CSI CHINA INTERNET FUND

Listed index fufures — Hong Kong

MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE JAN2025

Total financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Other net assets

Total net assets

Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss at cost

Note: Investments are accounted for on a trade-date basis.

46

Heldings

910,600
58,200
970,000

7,798
9,700

Contract size

47

Market Net asset
value value
HK$ %
3,999,355 1,78%
4,323,096 1.94%
19,652,200 8.80%
27,974,651 12.52%
2,838,757 1.27%
2,203,393 0,99%
5,042,150 2.26%
Fair Net asset
value value
HKS %
{21,510) (0.01%)
(21.510) (0.01%)
204,460,897 91.52%
18,942,685 8.48%
223,403,582 100.00%
179,785,195
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Annual Report and Financial Statements
Statement of Movements in Investment (Unaudited)

As at 31 December 2024

Listed equity securities - China
CHINA RAILWAY GROUP LTD-A

CONTEMPORARY AMPEREX TECHNOLOGY CO
LTD-A

E FUND CHINEXT PRICE INDEX ETF
HANG ZHOU GREAT STAR INDUSTRIAL CO LTD-
A

HENAN PINGGAC ELECTRIC CO LTD-A
HISENSE KELON ELECTRICAL HLDGS CO LTD-A
HT-PB CSI PTVT IDT ETF

HUALI INDUSTRIAL GROUP CO LTD-A
IFLYTEK CO LTD-A

JIANGXI COPPER CO LTD-A

KWEICHOW MOUTAI CO LTD-A

LUXSHARE PRECISION INDUSTRY CO LTD-A
NAURA TECHNOLQGY GROUP CO LTD-A
PROYA COSMETICS CO LTD-A

SANY HEAVY INDUSTRY CQ LTD-A

ZHONGJI INNOLIGHT CO LTD-A

Listed equity securities - Hong Kong
AGRICULTURAL BANK OF CHINA LTD-H
AIA GROUP LTD

AKESO INC

ALIBABA GROUP HMLDGLTD

ANTA SPORTS PRODUCTS LTD
ASM PACIFIC TECHNOLOGY LTD
BANK OF CHINA LTD-H

BYD CO LTD-H

BYD ELECTRONIC (INTL) COLTD
CHINAAMC CSI 300 INDEX ETF

CHINA COMMUNICATIONS CONSTRUCTION CO
LTD-H

CHINA CONSTRUCTION BANK CORP-H

CHINA HONGQIAQ GROUP LTD

CHINA INTL CAPITAL CORP LTD-H

CHINA LIFE INSURANCE CO LTD-H

CHl-liNA LONGYUAN POWER GROUP CORP LTD-

At 31
December
2023

107,600.00

47,200.00

1,454,000.00
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Movement in holdings

Additions

3565,000.00
21,580.00

850,500.00
65,700.00

117,000.00
176,800.00
872,500.00
21,700.00
16,500.00
80,100.00
600,00
88,900.00
7,800.00
7.800.00
173,400.00
5,700.00

516,000.00
193,600.00
17,000.00
285,400.00
1,400.00
25,700.00
1,542,000.00
41,500.00
75,000,00
101,400.00
905,000.00

1,819,000.00
72,500.00
100,00¢.00
148,000.00
310,000.00

Disposals

(365,000.00)
{13,580.00)

(850,500.00)
(65,700,00)

{117,000.00)
(178,800.00)
(872,500.00)
{21,700.00)
{16,500.00)
(80,100.00)
{600.00)
(88,900.00)
{7,800.00)
{7,800.00)
£173,400.00)
(5,700.00)

{516,000.00)
{202,600.00)
{17,000.00)
{127,200.00)
{55,600.00)
{25,700.00)
(597,000.00}
(24,500.00)
(75,000.00)
(101,400.00)
(466,000,00)

(988,000.00)

{72,500.00)
(100,000.,00)
(148,000.00)
(310,000.00)

At 31
December
2024

§,000.00

98,600.00
20%5,400.00
25,800.00
945,000.00
17,000.00

439,000,00

2,285,000.00
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Statement of Movements in Investment (Unaudited) (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Listed equity securities - Hong

Kong - (continued)
CHINA MENGNIU DAIRY CO LTD

CHINA MERCHANTS BANK CO
LTD-H

CHINA MOBILE LTD

CHINA OVERSEAS LAND &
INVESTMENT LTD

CHINA PACIFIC INSURANCE
(GRCUP) CO-H

CHINA PETROLEUM & CHEMICAL
CORP-H

CHINA RAILWAY GROUP LTD-H

CHINA RESOURCES BEER
{HLDGS) CO LTD

CHINA RESOURCES LAND LTD

CHINA RESOURCES MIXC
LIFESTYLE SERVICES LTD

CHINA RESQURCES POWER
HLDGS CO

CHINA SHENHUA ENERGY CO
LTD-H

CITIC SECURITIES CO LTD-H
CKHUTCHISON HLDGS LTD

CK INFRASTRUCTURE HLDGS
LTD

CNOQC LTD

COSCO SHIPPING ENERGY
TRANSPORTATION CO LTD-H

COUNTRY GARDEN SERVICES
HLDGS CO LTD

CSOP HANG SENG TECH INDEX
ETF

ENN ENERGY HLDGS LTD
GEELY AUTOMOBILE HLDGS LTD

GIANT BIOGENE HOLDING CO
LTD

HAIDILAQ INTL HLDG LTD

HANG SENG CHINA
ENTERPRISES INDEX ETF

HONG KONG EXCHANGES &
CLEARING LTD

HSBC HLDGS PLC

INDUSTRIAL & COMMERCIAL BK
OF CHINA-H

INNOVENT BIOLOGICS INGC (B)
JD LOGISTICS INC
JD.COM INC

At 31
December
2023

7,000.00

495,000.00

1,121,000.00

16,800.00

96,8C¢0.00

13,800.00
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Movement in holdings
Additions

191,000.00
137,500.00

84,500.00
63,000.00

45,400.00

368,000.00

276,000.00
231,500.00

81,000.00
31,600.00

268,000.00

104,500.C0

44,000.00
72,500.00
53,500.00

374,000.00
184,000.00

63,000.00

2,950,400,00

22,000.00
281,000.00
68,600.00

132,000.00
145,800.00

32,200.00

132,800.00
1,955,000.00

44,500.00
225,400.00
101,850.00

Disposals

(191,000.00)
(137,500.00)

{60,500.00)
(63,000.00)

{45,400.00)

(368,000.00)

(276,000.00)
(231,500.00)

{81,000.00)
£31,600.00)

(206,000.00)
(104,500.00)

{44,000.00)
(72,500.00)
{31,500.00)

(566,000.00)
{184,000.00)

(63,000.00)

(3,160,800.00)

(22,000.00)
{102,000.00)
(68,600.00)

{132,000.00)
(87,500.00)

(37,400.00)

(60,000.00)
(697,000.00)

{44,500.00)
(225,400.00)
{81,300.00)

Al 31
Dacember
2024

121,000.00

62,000.00

22,000.00

303,000.00

910,600,00

179,000.00

58,200.00

11,700.0¢

169,600.00
1,258,000.00

34,450.00



CFund - China Equity
(A Sub-Fund of CFund)

Annual Report and Financial Statements
Statement of Movements in Investment {Unaudited) (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Listed equity securities - Hong Kong -
{continued)

JIUMAGJIU INTL HLDGS LTD

KUAISHOU TECHNOLOGY

LENOVO GROUP LTD

LI AUTC INC-CL A

LINK REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT TRUST
MEITUAN-CLASS B

MGM CHINA HLDGS LTD

NETEASE INC

NEW ORIENTAL EDUCATION &
TECHNOLOGY GROUP INC

PETROCHINA CO LTD-H
PICC PROPERTY & CASUALTY CO LTD-H

PING AN INSURANCE GROUP CO OF CHINA
LTD-H

POP MART INTL GROUP LTD

SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING INTL
CORP

SF HOLDING COLTD

SHENZHOU INTL GRQUP HLDGS LTD
SINOPHARM GROUP CO LTD-H
SUN HUNG KAl PROPERTIES LTD
SUNAC CHINA HLDGS LTD
TECHTRONIC INDUSTRIES CO LTD
TENCENT HLDGS LTD

TRACKER FUND OF HONG KONG
TRIP.COM GRCOUP LTD

WEICHAI POWER CO LTD-H

WUX! BIOLOGICS (CAYMAN} INC
XIACMI CORP-CLASS B SHARE
XPENG INC

YUE YUEN INDUSTRIAL HLDG

YUM CHINA HLDGS INC
ZHONGSHENG GROUP HLDGS LTD
ZNIN MINING GROUP CO LTD-H

At 31
December
2023

57,900.00

22,600.00

52,200.00

109,500.00

880,000.00
35,500.00
662,500.00

252,400.00
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Movement in holdings

Additions

154,000.00
276,000.00
20,000.00
52,000.00
183,600.00
94,400.00
8,200.00
24,500.00

762,000.00
68,000.00
258,500.00

121,200.00
88,500.00

5,000.00
31,600.00
38,400.00
24,500.00
57,000.00
30,700.00

410,500.00
17,350.00
212,000.00
£8,500.00
540,200.00
68,400.00
190,500.00
3,450.00
174,500.00
102,000.00

Disposals

{154,000.00)
(57,900.00)
{276,000.00)
{112,600.00)
(52,000.00)
{132,500.00)
(84,400.00)

(24,500.00)

{580,000.00)
(68.,000.00)
{268,000.00)

(79,000.00)

{5,000.00)
{31,600.00)
(36,400.00)
(24,500.00)

(880,000.00)
(26,500.00)
{21,700.00)

(103,000.00)
{11,800.00)

(212,000.00)
{68,500.00)

{445,800.00)
(21,100.00)

{126,500.00)

(3,450.00)

£102,000.00)

At 31
December
2024

103,300.00

8,200.00

182,000.00

100,000.00

42,200,00
£8,500.00

30,500.00
44,500.00
970,000.00
5,650.00

347,000.00
47 300,00
64,000.00

174,500.00
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Annual Report and Financial Staternents
Statement of Movements in Investment (Unaudited) (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

Af 31 At 31
December Movement in holdings December
2023 Additions Disposals 2024
Listed equity securities - Japan
DISCO CORP - 700,00 {700.00) -
FAST RETAILING CO LTD - 1,000.00 (1,000.00) -
MITSUBISHI UFJ FINANCIAL GROUP INC - 29,100.00 (29,100.00) -
Listed equity securities - United States
ALIBABA GROUP HLDG LTD-SPONSORED ADR 10,098.00 - (10,098.00) -
CAMECO CORP - 1,000.00 (1,000.00) -
FUTU HLDGS LTD-SPONSORED ADR - 7,900.00 (7,900.00) -
ISHARES 0-3 MONTH TREASURY BOND ETF - 22,600.00 (22,600.00) -
ISHARES CHINA LARGE-CAP ETF 33,700.00 4,900,00 (38,600.00) -
ISHARES MSCI CHINA ETF 22,598.00 3,300.00 (18,100.00) 7,798.00
KE HLDGS INC-SPONSORED ADR - 9,000.00 (9,000.00) -
KRANESHARES CSI CHINA INTERNET FUND 38,578.00 18,400.00 (45,278.00) 9,700.00
NETEASE INC-ADR 900.00 3,000.00 (3,900.00) -
PINDUCDUO INC-SPONSORED ADR 3,550.00 5,230.00 (8,780.00) -
SEA LTD-ADR - 2,700,00 (2,700.00) -
TAIWAN SEMICONDUCTOR MANUFACTURING CO-ADR - 4,300.00 (4,300.00)
TENCENT MUSIC ENTERTAINMENT GROUP-ADR - 59,900.00 {59,800.00) -
ZTO EXPRESS CAYMAN INC-SPONSORED ADR - 16,800.00 (16,800.00) -
Listed index futures - Hong Kong
HANG SENG CHINA ENTERPRISES INDEX FUTURE AUG2024 - 38.00 (38.00) -
HANG SENG CHINA ENTERPRISES INDEX FUTURE JUL2024 - 62.00 {62.00) -
HANG SENG CHINA ENTERPRISES INDEX FUTURE JUN2024 - 48.00 (48.00) -
HANG SENG CHINA ENTERPRISES INDEX FUTURE MAY2024 - 48,00 {48.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE APR2024 - 75.00 (75.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE AUG2024 - 50.00 (50.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE DEC2024 - 15.00 {15.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE FEB2024 - 90.00 {90.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE JAN2024 30.00 16,00 {46.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE JUL2024 - 70.00 {70.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE JUN2024 - 30,00 (30.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE MAR2024 - 114.00 (114.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE MAY2024 - 10.00 (10.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE OCT2024 - 140.00 (140.00) -
HANG SENG TECH INDEX FUTURE SEP2024 - 70.00 (70.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE APR2024 - 301.00 {301.00) -
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Statement of Movements in Investment (Unaudited) (continued)
As at 31 December 2024

At 31 At 21
December Movement in holdings December

2023 Additions Disposals 2024
Listed index futures - Hong Kong - (continued)
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE AUG2024 - 140.00 (140.00) -
MIN] HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE DEC2024 - 89.00 (89.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE FEB2024 - 260.00 (260.00) -
MIN! HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE JANZ024 105.00 41.00 (146.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE JAN2025 - 47.00 - 47.00
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE JUL2024 - 65.00 (65.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE JUN2024 - 65.00 (65.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE MAR2024 - 230.00 (230.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE MAY2024 - 230.00 (230.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE NOVz024 - 89.00 {89.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE OCT2024 - 135.00 (135.00) -
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE SEP2024 - 65.00 (65.00) -
Listed futures — Singapore
SGX FTSE CHINA AS0 INDEX FUTURE FEB2024 - 30.00 (30.00) -
SGX FTSE CHINA AS0 INDEX FUTURE OCT2024 - 30.00 (30,00} -
Quoted Equity Swap — Korea
SWAP MEDIATEK INC (TT.2454) 17 AUG 2026 - 3,000.00 {3,000.00) -
SWAP SK HYNIX INC (KS.000660) 6 FEB 2026 - 4,166.00 (4,166.00) -
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Annual Report and Financial Statements
Details in respect of financial derivative instruments (Unaudited)
As at 31 December 2024

The Sub-Fund held the following derivative instruments with the counterparty as Morgan Stanley & Co.
international ple. as at 31 December 2024

Listed index futures - Hong Kong Underlying assets
MINI HANG SENG INDEX FUTURE JAN2025 HANG SENG INDEX
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Information on exposure arising from financiai derivative instruments (Unaudited)
As at 31 December 2024

The lowest, highest and average gross exposure arising from the use of financial derivative instruments for any
purpose as a proportion to the Fund's total net asset value for the year ended 31 December 2024.

2024

% of NAV

Lowest gross exposure 4.08%
Highest gross exposure 31.77%
Average gross exposure 14.45%

The lowest, highest and average net exposure arising from the use of financial derivative instruments for
investment purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s fotal net asset value for the year ended 31 December 2024.

2024

% of NAV

Lowest net exposure 2.84%
Highest net exposure 31.23%
Average net exposure 14.07%

The lowest, highest and average gross exposure arising from the use of financial derivative instruments for any
purpose as a proportion to the Fund’s fotal net asset value for the year ended 31 December 2023.

2023

% of NAV

Lowest gross exposure 9.83%
Highest gross exposure 51.23%
Average gross exposure 33.31%

The lowest, highest and average net exposure arising from the use of financial derivative instruments for
investment purpose as a proportion to the Fund's total net asset value for the year ended 31 December 2023.

2023

% of NAV

Lowest net exposure 3.39%
Highest net exposure 45.72%
Average net exposure 28.15%
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Performance Table (Unaudited)

As at 31 December 2024

Net Asset Value

At 31 December 2024

Class A HKD {Accumulation) Units
Class A HKD (Distribution) Units
Class A RMB (Accumulation) Unit

At 29 December 2023 (Notet)
Class A HKD {(Accumulation) Units
Class A HKD {Distribution} Units
Class A RMB {Accumulation) Unit

At 30 December 2022 (Note1)
Class A HKD (Accumulation} Units
Class A HKD {Distribution} Units
Class A RMB {(Accumulation) Unit

Dealing
net asset
valye

HK$186,275,950
HK$19,113,518
RMB7,751,118

HK$118,201,513
HK$17,738,247
RMEBG,839,376

HK$391,363,614
HK$29,462,581
RMB®,006,677

Note1: This is the last dealing day for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,

Note2: This is the last published dealing net asset value per unit for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
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Dealing
net asset
value per

Units

HK$77.3362
HK$52.1793
RMB59.4327

HK$64.1589
HK$45.0255
RMB47.6365

HK$79.1158
HK$57.7906
RMBS57.0951

(Note2)
(Note2})
(Note2)

(Note2)
{Note2)
{Note2)
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Performance Table {Unaudited) (continued)

As at 31 December 2024

Highest and lowest net asset value per unit

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Class A HKD {Accumulation) Units
Class A HKD (Distribution) Units

Class A RMB (Accumulation) Unit

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Class A HKD {Accumulation) Units
Class A HKD {Distribution) Units

Class A RMB (Accumulation) Unit

For the year ended 31 December 2022
Class A HKD (Accumulation} Units
Class A HKD (Distribution) Units

Class A RMB (Accumulation) Unit

For the year ended 31 December 2021
Class A HKD (Accumulation) Units
Class A HKD (Distribution) Units
Class A RMB {Accumulation) Unit

For the year ended 31 December 2020
Class A HKD (Accumulation} Units
Class A HKD {Distribution) Units

Class A RMB (Accumulation) Unit

For the period from 2 January 2019 (date
of commencement of operations) to 31

December 2019
Class A HKD (Accumulation) Units
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Highest net
asset value
per unit

HK$290.1179
HK$60.8033
RMBE6.7643

HK$89.9017
HK$65.0218
RMB63.1207

HK$133.7575
HK$100.7003
RMB88.9719

HK$194.4678
HK$153.6969
RMB132.2743

HK$166.1071
HK$132.7997
RMB114.3710

HK$116.9666

Lowest net
asset value
per unit

HK$56.1071
HK$38.9742
RMB42.0071

HK$61.3822
HK$43.0676
RMB45.7251

HK$77.5632
HK$56.6565
RMB57.0951

HK$128.6857
HK$97.8458
RMB85.6686

HIK$92.1382
HK$100.0000

RMB100.0000

HK$99.7196



